
1 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
Minutes of Meeting of Planning Committee of Mid Ulster District Council held 
on Tuesday 4 February 2025 in Council Offices, Ballyronan Road, Magherafelt 
and by Virtual Means 
 
 
Members Present  Councillor Robinson, Chair 
 

Councillors Bell, Black, J Buchanan, Carney*, Clarke, 
Cuthbertson*, Graham*, Kerr, Martin (6.08 pm), 
McElvogue, McFlynn, D McPeake, S McPeake, Mullin, 
Varsani 

 
Officers in    Mr Bowman, Head of Strategic Planning (HSP) 
Attendance   Ms Donnelly, Council Solicitor 

Ms Doyle, Head of Local Planning (HLP) 
Mr Marrion, Senior Planning Officer (SPO) 
Mr McClean, Senior Planning Officer (SPO) 
Ms McKinless, Senior Planning Officer (SPO) 
Miss Thompson, Committee and Member Services 
Officer 

 
Others in    Councillor McAleer*** (7.22 pm) 
Attendance    

LA09/2024/0556/F Ms Gourley 
       Mr Mallaghan MP 
    LA09/2023/0852/O Mr Cassidy*** 
    LA09/2023/0888/O Ms Gourley 
 
* Denotes Members present in remote attendance 
** Denotes Officers present by remote means 
*** Denotes Others present by remote means    
      
The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chair, Councillor Robinson welcomed everyone to the meeting and those 
watching the meeting through the Live Broadcast. Councillor Robinson in introducing 
the meeting detailed the operational arrangements for transacting the business of 
the committee in the Chamber and by virtual means, by referring to Annex A to this 
minute. 
 
P013/25 Notice of Recording 
 
Members noted that the meeting would be webcast for live and subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s You Tube site. 
 
P014/25   Apologies 
 
None. 
 
 



2 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

P015/25 Declarations of Interest 
 
The Chair, Councillor Robinson reminded members of their responsibility with regard 
to declarations of interest. 
 
P016/25 Chair’s Business  
 
The Chair, Councillor Robinson referred to the below applications which were on the 
agenda for determination and sought approval to have the following applications 
deferred from tonight’s meeting schedule for the following reasons –  
 
Agenda Item 5.3 - LA09/2023/0815/F - Retention of farm shed and associated yard, 
laneway and access at approx. 145m NE of 5A Craigs Road, Cookstown for Paul 
Martin Toner – Office meeting. 

Agenda Item 5.4 - LA09/2023/0909/O - Site for new dwelling at approx. 30m NE of 
44 Ballydermot Road, Bellaghy for Mr Mark Lowry – Office meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 5.6 - LA09/2023/1006/F - Farm storage shed at approx. 160m S of 25A 
Cloane Road, Draperstown for Mr Mark Quinn – Office meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 5.13 - LA09/2024/0384/F - Change of use from garage/stables to 
dwelling with alterations/extension within an existing cluster at 4A Anneeter Lane, 
Cookstown for Michael McCann – Office meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 5.15 - LA09/2024/0719/F - Replacement dwelling and domestic double 
garage at 42A Drummurrer Lane, Coalisland for Emma Quinn – Office meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 5.18 - LA09/2024/1159/F - Retention of position of replacement 
dwelling (under LA09/2018/1039/F), extension of curtilage, and relocation of 
entrance at 225 Drum Road, Cookstown for Mr Martin Conway – To submit 
amended proposal. 
 
Resolved  That the planning applications listed above be deferred for the reasons 

outlined. 
 
It was advised that agenda item 5.10 - LA09/2023/1379/F - had been taken off the 
agenda and that agenda item 6.1 – LA09/2021/0443/O - would be moved to 
confidential business. 
 
 
Matters for Decision  
 
P017/25 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Chair drew Members attention to the undernoted planning applications for 
determination. 
 
 
 



3 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

LA09/2020/1166/F Replacement building to provide ground floor office 
accommodation with a 2 bedroom flat on first and 
second floors (reduced red line and structural report 
included) at 16 Mill Street Derrycush, Aughnacloy for   
C Murphy Construction  

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2020/1166/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Varsani  
Seconded by Councillor Bell and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2020/1166/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2022/1733/F 2 Dwellings and Common Parking Area at Adjacent to 

93 Farlough Road, Newmills, Coalisland, Dungannon 
for Mr Tom Henry  

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2022/1733/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Kerr 
Seconded by Councillor Varsani and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2022/1733/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2023/0815/F Retention of farm shed and associated yard, laneway 

and access at approx. 145m NE of 5A Craigs Road, 
Cookstown for Paul Martin Toner 

 
Agreed that application be deferred for an office meeting earlier in meeting. 
 
LA09/2023/0909/O Site for new dwelling at approx. 30m NE of 44 

Ballydermot Road, Bellaghy for Mr Mark Lowry  
 
Agreed that application be deferred for an office meeting earlier in meeting. 
 
LA09/2023/1003/LBC Refurbishment and alternation of the vacant former 

hotel to accommodate a restaurant/brewery with staff 
accommodation to the upper levels’ landscaping to 
the rear’ parking’ glamping pods and a kids play area 
at 44 Main Street, Caledon for Mr Dwayne McGlone
  

Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2023/1003/LBC which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Varsani 
Seconded by Councillor Robinson and  

 



4 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Resolved  That planning application LA09/2023/1003/LBC be approved subject to 
conditions as per the officer’s report. 

 
LA09/2023/1006/F Farm storage shed at approx. 160m S of 25A Cloane 

Road, Draperstown for Mr Mark Quinn 
 
Agreed that application be deferred for an office meeting earlier in meeting. 
 
LA09/2023/1086/F Access lane to approved site for dwelling and garage 

(LA09/2022/1568/O) at lands 40m NE of 95A Lisaclare 
Road, Stewartstown for Mr Edward Coyle 

 
Mr Marrion (SPO) presented a report on planning application LA09/2023/1086/F 
advising that it was recommended for approval and highlighted late objection 
received.  It was advised that this objection did not raise anything new that hadn’t 
already been considered. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Kerr 
Seconded by Councillor Carney and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2023/1086/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
Councillor Martin entered the meeting at 6.08 pm. 
 
LA09/2023/1237/F Change of use of former Caledon Arms Hotel to a 

restaurant, bar and brewery with 3 residential 
apartments on first and second floors. A new rear 
balcony at first floor level and internal access lift 
from basement to second floor. 7 glamping pods, 
outdoor seating and eating areas, outdoor kitchen 
area with pizza oven, kids playground, communal 
garden, pathways and associated landscaping. New 
vehicle and pedestrian access from Derrycourtney 
Road with new gates and pillars a single storey one 
bedroom "Guard House" at 44 Main Street, Caledon 
for Mr Dwayne Mc Glone 

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2023/1237/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Varsani 
Seconded by Councillor Robinson and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2023/1237/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
 
 



5 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

LA09/2023/1357/O Dwelling and domestic garage at land approx. 50m 
NE of 37 Cooneen Road, Fivemiletown for William 
McConnell  

 
Mr Marrion (SPO) presented a report on planning application LA09/2023/1357/O 
advising that it was recommended for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Robinson  
Seconded by Councillor Black and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2023/1357/O be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2023/1379/F Change of use of poultry unit to light industrial use at 

33 Gortlenaghan Road, Dungannon for John Clarke 
 
Application taken off agenda. 
 
LA09/2024/0168/F Change of use from offices to house in multiple 

occupancy (HMO) at 24 Northland Row, Dungannon 
for Landmark Homes  

 
Mr Marrion (SPO) presented a report on planning application LA09/2024/0168/F 
advising that it was recommended for refusal. 
 
Councillor Varsani stated that given the issues raised in relation to discrepancies in 
NI Water calculations she felt the application should be deferred to consider the 
figures outlined by the officer.  The Councillor stated that the only issue with this 
application is the water load and asked for clarification that the figures are close and 
the issue is not a big as what NI Water are stating. 
 
Mr Marrion stated that from the calculations he had equating to litres per second he 
did not see a difference in the loading. 
 
The HLP stated that officers have gone back to NI Water on several occasions in 
relation to the calculations and that NI Water are standing by the figures provided 
and that the application would create an extra load.  The HLP advised that officers 
consider that there is no extra load and do not feel that NI Water can stand over their 
figures.  The HLP stated that the application can be deferred for an office meeting if 
that is the desire of the Committee but she did not believe there would be anything 
more forthcoming from NI Water.  The HLP stated that a decision could be taken on 
the application tonight if it was decided that there was an error in the figures as 
outlined by the officer then the recommendation to refuse could be overturned.  If 
such a decision was taken the HLP asked that conditions of the approval be 
delegated to officers. 
 
Councillor Varsani proposed that the application be approved based on the 
information put forward by officers in relation to load figures. 
 



6 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Councillor Bell seconded Councillor Varsani’s proposal.  The Councillor asked for 
future reference if the figures put forward by NI Water are advisory only and if figures 
are close then the Committee can take a decision. 
 
Mr Marrion stated that officers requested that NI Water provide clear evidence that 
there would be an increase in loading and they provided the figures outlined tonight.  
Mr Marrion highlighted that three years metering were taken into account but that the 
three years provided included Covid when offices were closed or not fully occupied 
and time when the building was vacant as Council had moved out.  Mr Marrion 
stated that information based on meter readings prior to 2020 were requested but 
that NI Water refused to provide this information.  The calculations provided by NI 
Water have been totalled incorrectly as previously referred to in Mr Marrion’s 
presentation to Members.   
 
Councillor Black stated that when he had seen that this application was being 
recommended for refusal it did not sit well with him taking into consideration the 
housing need across the District.  The Councillor stated he was happy to support the 
proposal based on the information put forward tonight. 
 
The HLP stated that the rationale for the approval is that information was received 
from NI Water and additional information was requested which has not been 
provided.  The HLP stated the figures provided by NI Water have been incorrectly 
calculated and that officers have recalculated the figures and that based on this 
information and those figures of previous usage being based on a vacant office 
building during the course of the last 3 years the Committee are content to move to 
approve this application. 
 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0168/F be approved subject to 

conditions as delegated to officers. 
 
LA09/2024/0179/F Housing development and associated works, for 3 

detached dwellings. at lands approx. 15m W of 2 
Stiloga Road, Dungannon for Mr Peter Jordan  

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/0179/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Varsani  
Seconded by Councillor McElvogue and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0179/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2024/0384/F Change of use from garage/stables to dwelling with 

alterations/extension within an existing cluster at 4A 
Anneeter Lane, Cookstown for Michael McCann  

 
Agreed that application be deferred for an office meeting earlier in meeting. 
 
 
 



7 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

LA09/2024/0556/F Retention of 3 storey pre fabricated office building at 
31B Tulyreavy Road Rock, Dungannon for Mr Brian 
Lagan  

 
Ms McKinless (SPO) presented a report on planning application LA09/2024/0556/F 
advising that it was recommended for refusal. 
 
The Chair advised the committee that requests to speak on the application had been 
received and invited Ms Gourley to address the committee in the first instance. 
 
Ms Gourley stated that the basis of the refusal of the application is founded on the 
view that the building is not a high quality design for its purposes as offices.  It was 
advised that prior to this purpose built building being erected office staff were based 
inside small dilapidated containers measuring only 12mx2.5m, there was no room for 
staff to walk between desks and no views outside.  By comparison the new office 
structure is more spacious, has central heating, air conditioning and a separate 
second floor staff canteen.  The main production office measures 19mx3m and can 
easily accommodate six desks with plenty of room for walking between the desks.  
The offices also have windows along the front elevation looking across the 
countryside.  Ms Gourley stated that the PED9 policy is not all about appearance 
and that good design is also about creating buildings which increase job satisfaction 
and minimise running costs.  Ms Gourley stated that it is more cost effective to 
maintain one building rather than a series of individual buildings.  Ms Gourley stated 
that job satisfaction and staff morale have improved dramatically since the new 
building was erected as employees can all be based in one office and can escape 
their desks and have a canteen to go to for breaks.  Previously staff were taking their 
breaks at their desks or in their cars.  Ms Gourley stated that despite the height of 
the building views of it are limited and highlighted that planning approval has been 
obtained for a large cutting shed which, once built, will tower above and act as a 
backdrop.  Ms Gourley stated that the building does share an industrial design with 
the site, is finished like the commercial buildings on site and integrates successfully 
into the yard.  Ms Gourley questioned what demonstrable harm would come from 
approving this application given the firm’s employees are happier, job satisfaction 
has improved and the building is easier to run.  Ms Gourley stated that no third party 
complaints have been received in respect of the application and in her opinion the 
one reason for refusal is subjective, unconvincing and would be difficult to defend at 
a planning appeal. 
 
Mr Mallaghan MP stated that this application only falls down on one section of PED9 
and is subject to one persons view of the design.  Mr Mallaghan stated that was has 
been built offers good quality office accommodation for a short to medium term and 
that in 10 years from now the applicant will have an office building with a more 
aesthetically pleasing design.  Mr Mallaghan stated that this type of office 
accommodation is common in this type of setting and felt the application should be 
approved but suggested that Members undertake a site visit to see how well the 
building blends in, with only one critical view.  Mr Mallaghan further suggested that 
the site visit should commence from Cookstown Council offices where there are two 
such similar cabins and also at MUSA where this type of accommodation also exists 
for staff. 
 
Councillor Mullin proposed that a site visit be undertaken. 



8 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Councillor S McPeake stated that the issues boil down to the aesthetics of the 
building, the Councillor stated there is nothing unusual with the use of containers and 
that he had no difficulty with what he saw on site.  Councillor S McPeake proposed 
that the application be approved. 
 
Councillor McElvogue seconded Councillor S McPeake’s proposal. 
 
The HLP stated that planning is subjective and that the use of containers is not 
unusual but that in this case nine containers are being used (three on three).  The 
HLP stated that the building does not look out of character but that is against 
industrial buildings.  The HLP stated that the meeting has also been told that this 
building is much better than what was provided before but that Members have also 
been told that the building only has a lifetime of 5-10 years and that the Committee is 
being asked to approve something which is of a temporary construction but that 
permanent approval is being sought.  The HLP stated that if Members are of the 
view to overturn the recommendation then she would advise a site visit be held first 
to see the context of the site and the area. 
 
Councillor Mullin referred to a container with a 8-10 year life span and asked if that 
meant that planning cannot be passed for containers. 
 
The HLP stated that temporary buildings normally seek temporary planning 
permission and that this is generally for three years.  The HLP stated that the 
Committee have been told tonight that the building has a lifetime of 5-10 years so 
she wasn’t saying that a temporary approval would not be given or that a container 
would not get approval but it has to be time appropriate. 
 
Councillor Varsani asked if there was any precedent in which approval is given with 
conditions on time limit. 
 
The HLP stated that the application is for retention of a three storey pre fab office 
building and she was not aware of other similar applications in the vicinity.  The HLP 
stated she did not know if the applicant would be willing to retain the building for a 
period of three years and that an office meeting may be beneficial to discuss this. 
 
Councillor Bell referred to the three year limit on temporary buildings and if the 
Committee were minded to approve the application it would be permanent.  The 
Councillor suggested that a condition of approval be attached for a limit of ten years. 
 
The HLP stated that she would not consider ten years to be temporary and would 
look for a shorter timeframe with the possibility of extension. 
 
Councillor S McPeake asked if an approval with condition of five years was possible 
with opportunity to apply for extension after that time. 
 
The HLP stated that if the Committee do not make a decision tonight the business 
can still continue as the building is already there and she would rather give the 
application due consideration.  The HLP stated that to go beyond five years would be 
too much but she would want to look into this further. 
 



9 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Councillor Kerr stated that if the applicant intends to build something more 
permanent in future could a temporary approval be given and in the future they can 
reapply for permanent structure. 
 
Councillor Black stated he admired the innovation shown by the applicant but felt 
that the discussion tonight was getting into a situation of making up policy as you go 
and agreed with the suggestion of a deferral in order to get it right.  Councillor Black 
seconded the proposal for a site visit. 
 
Councillor Cuthbertson recalled a similar application for a portable building for 
someone to live in on a site in advance of them developing the site.  On that 
occasion the permission was given for two years.  The Councillor stated he did not 
see anything different with this application and that policy cannot be made up as you 
go along.  Councillor Cuthbertson stated that along with the planning consideration 
Council may also have a remit in relation to Building Control and whether the 
structure is safe.  The Councillor stated that the Committee needed to stick to 
previous decisions in the past and that temporary buildings is for 2-3 years. 
 
The Chair, referred to the two proposals and asked Councillor S McPeake if he 
would be willing to withdraw his proposal. 
 
Councillor S McPeake stated he would withdraw his proposal. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Robinson asked if Councillor Mullin would amend her proposal 
to an office meeting. 
 
Councillor Mullin agreed with a deferral for an office meeting. 
 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0556/F be deferred for an office 

meeting. 
 
LA09/2024/0719/F Replacement dwelling and domestic double garage at 

42A Drummurrer Lane, Coalisland for Emma Quinn 
 
Agreed that application be deferred for an office meeting earlier in meeting. 
 
LA09/2024/0759/F 4 tannoys to provide a Public address system within 

Maghera town centre at Public Footpath adjacent to 2 
Coleraine Road, 2 Hall Street, 42 Main Street and 18-
21 Main Street, Maghera for Mr James Donnelly 

 
Councillors Bell, Black, J Buchanan, Carney, Clarke, Cuthbertson, Graham, Kerr, 
Martin, McElvogue, McFlynn, D McPeake, S McPeake, Mullin, Robinson and Varsani 
declared an interest in this application. 
 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/0759/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Bell  
Seconded by Councillor Kerr and  

 



10 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0759/F be approved subject to 
conditions as per the officer’s report. 

 
LA09/2024/0941/F Amendments to house types of previously approved 

residential development of lands at Gortgonis Road, 
Coalisland, (M/2005/0519/F) at lands accessing S of 
Gortgonis Park to the rear of Knockmoy Park, 
Gortevin Terrace and Fronting Gortgonis Terrace, 
Coalisland for Mr Gerard McCann 

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/0941/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor McFlynn  
Seconded by Councillor Carney and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0941/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
On Councillor McFlynn’s request, Members viewed design of the proposal. 
 
LA09/2024/1159/F Retention of position of replacement dwelling (under 

LA09/2018/1039/F), extension of curtilage, and 
relocation of entrance at 225 Drum Road, Cookstown 
for Mr Martin Conway  

 
Agreed that application be deferred for submission of additional information earlier in 
meeting. 
 
LA09/2024/1395/O Renewal of planning application LA09/2021/1048/O at 

50m SE of 22 Tirgan Road, Tullynagee, Moneymore 
for Malachy McCrystal  

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/1395/O which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor McFlynn  
Seconded by Councillor Clarke and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/1395/O be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2021/0443/O Dwelling & garage in gap site at 30m W of 154 Battery 

Road, Cookstown for Shauna Quinn 
 
Item to be heard in confidential business. 
 
 
 



11 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

LA09/2024/0471/F 2 agricultural sheds with associated site works at 
land 170m E of 46D Tirgan Road, Moneymore for Mr 
Joe Connery 

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/0471/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor S McPeake 
Seconded by Councillor McFlynn and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0471/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2024/0562/F Change of access to approval LA09/2024/0346/RM at 

25m NE of 68 Hillhead Road, Toomebridge for Mr 
Christopher Dougan 

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/0562/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor D McPeake  
Seconded by Councillor Mullin and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/0562/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2024/1453/F Removal of condition 6 of LA09/2024/0881/F - the 

finished floor levels of the shed shall be raised to a 
minimum finished floor level of 15.15OD, as proposed 
on Drawing No. 02 Rev A, dated July 2024, prior to  
commencement of the change of use proposed at the 
site at approx. 60m NW of 4 Airfield Road, 
Toomebridge for Mr Sean Corr  

 
Members considered previously circulated report on planning application 
LA09/2024/1453/F which had a recommendation for approval. 
 

Proposed by Councillor D McPeake  
Seconded by Councillor Martin and  

 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2024/1453/F be approved subject to 

conditions as per the officer’s report. 
 
LA09/2023/0852/O Dwelling and garage at 55m E of 64 Aughrim Road, 

Magherafelt for Mr Andrew Watterson 
 
Ms McKinless (SPO) presented a report on planning application LA09/2023/0852/O 
advising that it was recommended for refusal. 
 
The Chair advised the committee that a request to speak on the application had 
been received and invited Mr Cassidy to address the committee. 



12 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Mr Cassidy stated that the application was submitted under the cluster policy and in 
his opinion this application fits what the cluster policy was envisaged to do.  Mr 
Cassidy stated that Council contend that there are only two dwellings within the 
group of buildings as opposed to three which policy asks for.  Mr Cassidy stated it 
should be noted that there are two further buildings located to the North of the cluster 
and access from lanes running East and West and adjacent to the cluster.  Mr 
Cassidy stated that whilst the tight grouping of the cluster only contains two houses 
the flexibility of the policy has been examined by both Judicial Review and Planning 
Appeals Commission and he referred to information submitted and circulated as part 
of the addendum which concluded that an application could be approved even if the 
full criteria is not met.  Mr Cassidy stated that the officer report sets out that a 
dwelling on the site will have no visual impact and invited Members to visit the site 
where they can see for themselves how the site meets the policy and will not change 
the character of the area and will not lead to proliferation of additional dwellings on 
the site. 
 
Councillor McFlynn stated she would tend to agree with Mr Cassidy’s comments, 
that there are two industrial sites to the right of the site and two dwellings to the left.  
The Councillor felt that the application will cluster with what is there and will round off 
the entire area.  Councillor McFlynn noted the officers report which stated that the 
proposal would be going further into the countryside if built and suggested a 
condition that the dwelling be contained within an area of the site.  The Councillor felt 
that the application could be approved but highlighted that Mr Cassidy had asked 
Members to visit the site and that she would be ok with this as well. 
 
The HLP stated that Members have head tonight references to case law and 
planning appeal decisions and that in terms of the planning appeals decision for a 
dwelling in a cluster they have made decisions where not all six criteria have been 
met but on a case by case basis they considered it was within the thrust of the 
policy.  The HLP highlighted that Planning Appeals have also upheld decisions and 
dismissed them on one criteria which has not been met so it is not that the PAC will 
always allow for a dwelling in a cluster just because it does not meet one or two 
criteria but that it has to meet the spirit of the policy in their eyes.  Looking at the 
application before Members the HLP stated that there are two dwellings and two 
businesses, the two garages at each of the dwellings cannot be counted.  The HLP 
stated that as there are not three dwellings the application does not meet first point 
in the policy.  The HLP stated that in her opinion what is there is a group of 
development rather than a cluster because it does not meet the first point of the 
policy.  The HLP stated that the nature of a cluster is that there are three dwellings 
but that a cluster is also to contain and that she felt to allow the application would be 
to manufacture a cluster rather than a cluster actually existing.  The HLP stated that 
she felt a site visit would be advisable to see if the application is breaking into new 
ground in the countryside rather than containing it.  The HLP accepted that many 
Members may know the site but that the site visit would allow Members to hone in on 
the viewpoints of what is being proposed. 
 
Councillor Black stated that the site does seem to nestle well into the existing 
development and felt it would be worthwhile to conduct a site visit on this occasion. 
 

Proposed by Councillor McFlynn  
Seconded by Councillor Black and  



13 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Resolved  That planning application LA09/2023/0852/O be deferred for a site visit. 
 
LA09/2023/0888/O Infill dwelling & garage at lands immediately S of 22 

School Lane, Gulladuff for Mrs Anne McKee  
 
Ms McKinless (SPO) presented a report on planning application LA09/2023/0888/O 
advising that it was recommended for refusal. 
 
The Chair advised the committee that a request to speak on the application had 
been received and invited Ms Gourley to address the committee. 
 
Ms Gourley stated that the basis for the refusal is founded on the buildings at 22 
School Lane do not visually read with no.18 South of the site and as such the 
frontage is not substantially and continuously built up.  Ms Gourley stated that the 
PAC have previously expressed the view that they find the wording of Policy CTY8 to 
be both confusing and contradictory in that its provisions allow for the creation of a 
ribbon development despite its clear opposition to such a form of development.  Ms 
Gourley stated that the policy exception defines a substantial and built up frontage 
as a line of three or more buildings and the planning assessment that there is no 
visual linkage and no awareness of three critical buildings along the frontage of 
School Lane attempts to introduce a visual test which does not appear in the policy.  
As accepted by the planning officer following a site visit, Ms Gourley stated that there 
are three buildings which have road frontage, these include, the two storey house at 
no.22, the outbuilding to the immediate East and the dwelling at no.18.  Ms Gourley 
stated that there is a line of three buildings along this stretch of road and the matter 
of whether the three buildings need to be read together was tested at appeal when 
PPS21 first came out with the Commission repeatedly ruling that CTY8 does not 
require visual linkage.  Ms Gourley expressed concern that if this application is 
refused an undesirable precedent will be set for all infill applications going forward in 
that a visual test is being introduced which does not appear in the policy.  Ms 
Gourley agreed that there is little visual awareness due to the curvature of School 
Lane but that this is immaterial and the fact remains that there is a small gap site 
between three road frontage buildings and this is the policy test and not whether all 
three can be viewed in a straight line or read together.  Ms Gourley stated that the 
infill policy test does not need to be made more strict.  Ms Gourley stated that as all 
three buildings have a frontage to School Lane it should be concluded that the 
application site lies within a continuous and built up frontage and the policy test is 
met.  For the reasons set out Ms Gourley urged Members to overturn the officer 
recommendation and approve this application. 
 
Councillor S McPeake stated he knew the area well and that the particular lane goes 
into a dead end (“the moss”).  The Councillor stated he was surprised that the 
application is being brought as a refusal because he felt there is no issue with having 
three buildings and that the photograph being displayed readily shows them all.  
Councillor S McPeake stated he would be alarmed at imposing a stricter visual 
linkage and to go down that route he felt there wouldn’t be many gap sites approved.  
The Councillor stated that the gap site is not unduly large in this case, the roadway is 
quite built up and he could not see why the application should be refused.  Councillor 
S McPeake proposed that the application be approved. 
 



14 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Councillor Bell stated he agreed with Councillor S McPeake’s comments and added 
that it was splitting hairs over a road that has a couple of bends in it as there is 
hardly a straight road in the countryside.  Councillor Bell seconded Councillor S 
McPeake’s proposal. 
 
The HLP stated she didn’t think Mid Ulster would often be accused of imposing a 
stricter visual test given the statistics.  The HLP stated there needed to be a rationale 
for overturning the decision and its not because it’s a dead end lane or that there are 
bends in the road.  The HLP stated that the first sentence of CTY8 states that 
planning permission will be refused for a building which creates or adds to a ribbon 
of development, the exception will be for a small gap site sufficient to accommodate 
up to a maximum of two houses within an otherwise substantial and continuously 
built up frontage and if this achieved then it must respect the existing development 
pattern along the frontage in terms of size, scale, plot size and other planning and 
environmental requirements.  The HLP stated that the definition of a substantial and 
continuous built up frontage includes a line of three or more buildings along a road 
frontage.  The HLP stated that just because you have three buildings does not mean 
you have a substantial and built up frontage and it comes back to subjectiveness.  
The HLP stated that Members needed to be sure that what they are seeing 
represents a substantial and continuous built up frontage and CTY 8 allows the 
infilling of gaps where there is that frontage but if what you approve creates a ribbon 
of development another purpose of CTY8 is to protect visual breaks if there is a 
visual break to be protected.  The HLP stated that the rationale would need to be 
that there is the substantial and continuous built up frontage and that it is not felt the 
proposal will create or add to a ribbon of development. 
 
Councillor Varsani stated that when Councillor S McPeake mentioned “the moss” did 
he mean bog. 
 
Councillor S McPeake stated that the lane comes to a dead end and the land beyond 
it would be scrubland with willow. 
 
Councillor Varsani questioned whether that land would be suitable for development 
in the future and that the potential for ribboning is limited by what is at the end of the 
lane. 
 
The HLP stated that the question Members needed to ask themselves is whether, by 
approving the application, it would be creating or adding to the ribbon of 
development now and not what could happen in the future. 
 
Councillor S McPeake stated that the two bookends can be seen from the 
photograph and to steer away from that is very harsh and that knowing the road he 
felt the proposal meets the criteria of an infill and he would be supportive of the 
application. 
 
The HLP stated that Councillor S McPeake’s rationale is that from visual inspection 
three buildings can be seen in a line and that it is considered these three buildings 
form a substantial and continuous built up frontage. 
 
Councillor S McPeake stated he would agree with this and could not see what the 
issue is. 



15 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Councillor Clarke agreed with Councillor S McPeake’s comments and stated that the 
only people who will be on that laneway will be the people who live on it. 
 
Councillor McFlynn stated she agreed with the Members comments and that the 
proposal is to be sited on a dead end lane.  The Councillor felt that one more 
dwelling on the lane would not impact on the landscape.  Councillor McFlynn also 
questioned that if there is already a ribbon of development how can another one be 
created. 
 
Councillor Cuthbertson stated that he would agree with the planners summary of the 
proposal and their recommendation.  The Councillor stated that Members were here 
to judge things on policy and that this application is against policy therefore he would 
propose that the application be refused. 
 
The HLP stated that it doesn’t matter if it is a dead end lane as the policy allows for 
private lanes.  The HLP urged Members to proceed with caution when they say the 
proposal would not harm the landscape as that is not the policy test.  The HLP stated 
that Members are proposing the approval of the application based on there being a 
gap in a substantial and continuous built up frontage and that proposal reflects the 
existing development pattern on the ground. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Robinson stated there was a proposal to approve the 
application which had been seconded and a proposal to refuse the application which 
had not been seconded and asked if there was a seconder for this proposal. 
 
No seconder was received for Councillor Cuthbertson’s proposal. 
 
The HLP asked that the conditions of approval be delegated to officers. 
 
Resolved  That planning application LA09/2023/0888/O be approved subject to 

conditions as delegated to officers. 
 
 
 
Matters for Information 
 
P018/25 Minutes of Planning Committee held on 7 January 2025 
 

Proposed by Councillor Kerr 
Seconded by Councillor Robinson and  

 
Resolved To note previously circulated minutes of Planning Committee held on 7 

January 2025. 
 
 
Live broadcast ended at 7.30 pm.   
 
 
 
 
 



16 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Local Government (NI) Act 2014 – Confidential Business 
 
Resolved In accordance with Section 42, Part 1 of Schedule 6 of the Local 

Government Act (NI) 2014 that Members of the public be asked to 
withdraw from the meeting whilst Members consider items P017/25 
and P019/25 to P023/25.  

 
 Matters for Decision  
 P017/25 Planning Applications for Determination - Continued 

P019/25 Receive Report on Internal Audit of Local Planning  
P020/25 Receive Enforcement Report 

   
  Matters for Information 

P021/25 Confidential Minutes of Planning Committee held on 7 
January 2025 

P022/25 Enforcement Cases Opened 
P023/25 Enforcement Cases Closed 

 
P024/25 Duration of Meeting 
 
The meeting was called for 6.00 pm and ended at 8.46 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair _______________________
   

 
 
 
 

Date ________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



17 –  Planning Committee (04.02.25) 
 

Annex A – Introductory Remarks from the Chairperson 
 

Good evening and welcome to the Council’s Planning Committee in the Chamber, 
Magherafelt and virtually. 

I specifically welcome the public watching us through the Live Broadcast. The Live 
Broadcast will run for the period of our Open Business but will end just before we 
move into Confidential Business. I let you know before this happens.  

Just some housekeeping before we commence.  Can I remind you:- 

o If you have joined the meeting remotely, please keep your audio on mute unless 
invited to speak and then turn it off when finished speaking 
 

o Keep your video on at all times, unless you have bandwidth or internet 
connection issues, where you are advised to try turning your video off 

 
o If you wish to speak please raise your hand in the meeting or on screen and keep 

raised until observed by an Officer or myself  
 

o Should we need to take a vote this evening I will ask each member to confirm 
whether they are for or against the proposal or abstaining  

 
o When invited to speak please introduce yourself by name to the meeting 

 
o For any member attending remotely, if you declare an interest in an item, please 

turn off your video and keep your audio on mute for the duration of the item 
 

o If referring to a specific report please reference the report, page or slide being 
referred to 

 
o Lastly, I remind the public and press that taking photographs of proceedings or 

using any means to enable anyone not present to see or hear proceedings, or 
making a simultaneous oral report of the proceedings are not permitted 

 

Thank you and we will now move to the first item on the agenda - apologies and then 
roll call of all other Members in attendance. 

 



 

 
 
  
 

 
ADDENDUM TO PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 

          
 
FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING ON:  4th February 2025 
 
Additional information has been received on the following items since the 
agenda was issued. 
 

Chair’s Business 

 

 

ITEM INFORMATION RECEIVED ACTION REQUIRED 
5.7 Late objection received Members to be advised 

5.11 Applicants name has changed to 
Outback Investments Ltd 

Members to note 

5.18 Additional Roads Information for 
consideration 

Members to note 

6.2 Late supporting information Members to be advised 

 

 

 

 


	Planning Committee Minutes of meeting held on 4 February 2025
	Feb cover sheet

